
Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
Briefing  
 
Dear Member, 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services Briefing to be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 

Tom Stannard 
Chief Executive 

 
An audio broadcast of this meeting will be live-streamed.  A member of the public who 
wishes to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, which will be 

presented at the meeting on their behalf, can do so in writing, by sending an email to 
the address at the bottom of this agenda. 
 

Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place. 
 

Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus 

 
DATE: Thursday, 24 March 2022 

 
TIME:  10.00 am 

 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting – the live audio broadcast of the meeting 

can be accessed via the link below. 

 
 

AGENDA 

 
 THE LIVE AUDIO BROADCAST CAN BE ACCESSED VIA THE 

LINK BELOW: 
This link will work if you are using a Microsoft device. If you are using an 
Apple or android based device, you will need to download the Microsoft 
Teams app in order to access the meeting via this link. 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/watch-live-council-meetings/ 
 

 

 

1   Apologies for absence.  

 

 

2   Declarations of interest.  

 

 

3   Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public):  

 

 

3a Former Tenants Arrears Write Off.  
 

(Pages 1 - 24) 

3b Sundry Debt Write Off - Quarter 4 2021/22.  

 

(Pages 25 - 28) 

4   Exclusion of the Public.  

 

 

5   Items for Decision (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No items.   

Public Document Pack

https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/watch-live-council-meetings/


 

 
 

Contact Officer: Claire Edwards 
Tel No: 0161 793 2602 
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF SERVICE REFORM 

 

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

ON 
24 MARCH 2022

 

TITLE: FORMER TENANTS ARREARS WRITE OFF 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that the Lead Member: 

 Approves the debt write off of former tenants’ arrears to the value of 
£146,815.96 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

This report sets out the current position on former tenants’ arrears and makes a 
recommendation to write off a value of £146,815.96 in relation to 112 cases. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Pendleton Together account statements 

 HRA Business Plan 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 

 

 

DETAILS: 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Throughout 2020/21 a number of the Former Tenant Arrears (FTA’s) became 
unrecoverable and it is considered appropriate to write these off in accordance 

with Financial Regulations.  Please note that debt write-off was last sought at 
the end of the 2018/19 financial year, so this report covers FTA debt over a 2 
year period.  

For financial and reporting purposes the Write Offs are split into two categories:  
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



 2 

1) Write Offs which Pendleton Together will still be able to collect such as when 
former tenants re apply for housing with Together Housing Association in the 
future; these are classed as write offs ‘collectable’.  

 

2) Write Offs which Pendleton Together will not be able to collect in the future such 
as deceased tenants with no estate or those that have gone into care homes 

etc where recovery action has failed; these are classed as write offs.  

 
1.2 On this occasion there are 67 cases which require write off and are deemed 

collectable in the future. The total of these debts equates to £96,005.87. Many 

of these debts have accrued following an eviction or where a property has been 

abandoned. Scrutiny of these accounts and levels of debt has taken place within 
Pendleton Together to ensure any learning can be gained. Many of the debts 
proposed for write off on this occasion accrued prior to the redesign of 

Pendleton Together’s Income Services which took place in 2017 and has 
brought about significant improvements in both collection and tenancy 

sustainment. The FTA recovery process has been followed and no contact or 
payment has been made towards the debt and it is no longer financially viable 
to pursue these debts.  

 

Total Collectable Under £5,000 Over £5,000 

67 cases 65 2 

£96,005.87 £83,081.38 £12,924.49 

 
1.3 There are 45 cases which are uncollectable which total £50,810.09. All of 

these tenancies have ended because the tenant has either deceased or 

moved into a residential home and there are insufficient funds to clear the 
debt.  

 
Total Uncollectable Under £5,000 Over £5,000 

45 cases 43 2 

£50,810.09 £39,373.65 £11,436.34 

 
Some of the accounts date back to 2014 and Pendleton Together have now 
exhausted the robust recovery process which has led to the accounts being put 

forward for write off.  
 

1.4 The Specialist Income team (within Pendleton Together) has reviewed many 
older cases in recent months and has sent many for tracing under a tracing 
contract we signed in 2019. Once three letters have been issued to a former 

tenant, any arrear over £50 is referred to either a contract tracing (where there 
are no accurate address details) or debt collection company.   This means that 

some cases are referred to a debt collection agency twice.  Virtually all of the 
cases in this report have been through this process with a small number of 
exceptions e.g. where there has been a death and it is clear that there is no 

estate.  Where this is the case it is dealt with as sensitively as possible.  Initially 
we contact by phone, followed by two sensitively-worded letters to advise of the 

debt and enquire as to whether there are funds in the estate to clear it. If a next 
of kin advises there are no funds we accept this and write off the debt.  

Page 2



 3 

 
 

All the cases that have been identified for write off will have been returned as 

uncollectable by the debt agency.  
 

The team’s work has been restructured and several changes introduced in the 
autumn of 2020 which include a newly designed automated escalation process, 
a new suite of letters and emails using ‘nudge’ techniques to bring about greater 

engagement, and a workload split which means there is now a specialist 
managing the Salford Pendleton former tenancy accounts who is working 

closely with the Neighbourhood team in the area.  
 

Covid 19 has impacted people financially.  Although we are able to track the 

impact on our current tenants it is difficult to this for former tenants as we no 
longer have access to their information.  We know however that across 

Together Housing Group in March 2021 around 600 tenants were adversely 
affected as a direct result of the pandemic.  This is significantly less than during 
the first wave.  Following a suspension of action for 6 months from March 2020 

across all of Together Housing Associations income services due to the effects 
of the pandemic on our customers, Pendleton Together have now seen cases 

progress through the process meaning a larger number have reached the point 
of exhausting all economical collection options. The majority of these cases are 
being recommended for write off as collectable debts meaning that should new 

contact details arise or an application for rehousing, they will be reopened and 
pursued.  

 

There are a number of cases which are currently awaiting external tracing to 
obtain forwarding addresses and contact details so Pendleton Together can 

start to pursue the debt before recommending for write off.  
 
1.5 Annual FTA figure since contract commencement:  

 

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 

43,532 163,529 243,696 264,239 327,209 389,062 430,368 441,454 

 
1.6 The extract below summaries total debt and average debt for each causation 

category leading to Former Tenant Arrears. 
 

Reason 
Code 

Reason Cases Total Debt Average Debt 
per Case 

ABAND Abandoned 12 28,569.44 2,380.79 

DECEAS Deceased 25 27,843.52 1,113.74 
EVIARR Eviction Rent 9 31,456.56 3,495.17 

EVIASB Eviction ASB 2 2,343.26 1,171.63 
EVIILL Eviction of illegal 

Occupier 

1 1,256.25 1,256.25 

FUTUNK Future tenure 
unknown 

21 31,724.04 1,510.67 

HARENT Renting from another 
H/A 

3 4,101.53 1,367.18 

Page 3



 4 

LARENT Renting from local 
authority landlord 

3 573.40 191.13 

MOVABR Moved abroad 1 2,583.48 2,583.48 
MOVARE Moved out of area 4 1,999.26 499.82 

MOVFAM Moved in with family / 
friends 

2 211.59 105.80 

MOVPAR Moved in with partner 2 3.04 1.52 

MOVPRI Moved to private 
rented 

2 341.69 170.85 

MOVRES Moved to residential 
home 

4 1,511.88 377.97 

MUTXC Mutual Exchange 1 35.23 35.23 

PRISON Gone to prison 5 6,588.36 1,317.67 
TRANSF Transfer 15 5,673.43 378.23 

 

 
 

2 Pendleton Together have a robust internal debt recovery process which they 
follow.  This can be seen in Appendix 1. 

 

 
3 Recommendation 

 
3.1 The Lead Member for Finance is requested to: - 

• Approve the former tenant arrears debt write off totalling £146,815.96 

 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

2021/22 HRA Budget 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

None 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

High 
Key financial risks resulting from the updated HRA business plan are identified in this 

report 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  

Awaiting confirmation 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

This report concerns key aspects of the Council’s revenue finances and has been 
produced by the Finance division. 

Page 4



 5 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

None 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

None 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

None 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

None 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Paul Hutchings – Strategic Finance Manager   

TEL NO: 0161 793 2574 

paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk 

 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

Pendleton & Charlestown 
 
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

Former Tenancy Arrears 
Recovery Process 

 
 
 
         
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 7



2        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

Version Control Log  

THG FTA Process –Formal Review Date – June 2020   

Version number  and 

date 

Date 

effective 

from 

Lead   
Approved by  

(LT/SMT)  

Issued to THG Summary of Key changes  

V1 – June 2017 

 

 

 

19th June 

2017 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

 

 Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income team 

Income team 

Tenancy sustainability 

and Welfare benefits team 

Lettings team 

Supported Housing 

Customer services 

Neighbourhoods 

Group-wide process (end-to-end), for use by Specialist Income 

Team with input from Customer Services, Lettings, 

Neighbourhoods, Welfare Benefits and Sustainable Tenancies 

Team and Current Tenancy Income Team 

  

V1.1 – October 2018 22nd 

October 

2018 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

 

 Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for all 

other teams to access 

Additional wording at existing action stages to add in FTAINV 

action sequence and FTA12, 13, 14 action sequence. 

Amended authorisation levels for write offs as per recent 

changes to financial regulations. 

V1.2 – February 2019 19th 

February 

2019 

Francesca 

Hartley – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for all 

other teams to access 

Inclusion of new action codes – FTATRA, FTADRO & updated 

write off levels. 

Additional personal contact with outgoing tenant as first stage of 

FTA recovery process. 

Early settlement agreement process added as appendix 

Appendix of all codes used by SIT 

P
age 8



3        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

V1.3 – November 

2019 

14th 

November 

2019 

Francesca 

Hartley- 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for 

other teams to access  

Inclusion of FTARTR , FTAIVA & amendment of write off 

amounts for FTA08D code 

V1.4 – August 2020 17th 

August 

2020 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for 

other teams to access  

Amendment of Personal Contact to make it a formal Action 

Stage as per the new FTAPC1 and FTPCIN actions in QL; 

additional guidance on this action stage; amendment of FTA01 

as this is now an automated stage. 

Note added to state that as of April 2020 all debt collection 

action is on hold until further notice. 

P
age 9



4        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pre-Tenancy Stage 

 
Lettings Advisors 

 
 
On receipt of an application, a search will be done and any former tenancy accounts checked for debts.  The 
applicant will be advised that the debt must be paid in full prior to re-housing and the application will be suspended 
unless a satisfactory arrangement to pay is adhered to.  This does not include debts that are classed as statue 
barred – please refer these to SIT for clarification.  
 
Cases in arrears will be referred to the Specialist Income Team for arrangements to be made.  
 
 

KEY AIMS OF THE PROCESS – MAXIMISING INCOME BY RECOVERING MONIES OWED TO THA BY FORMER 

TENANTS 

Throughout the former tenancy arrears recovery process we have 4 key aims that are embedded within the THA Income collection 

processes, these are: 

• That QUALITY CONTACT should be attempted at key stages of the process.  This will enable us to have a good understanding of 

tenants’ personal circumstances.  It will allow us to gather information on a person’s needs and financial circumstances. 

 

• We will take a BALANCED APPROACH, ensuring we have support and enforcement.  We will provide advice to tenants to 

maximise income to place them in the best possible position to pay their debts.  We will always be clear and advise the tenants of 

the consequences if they fail to meet their rental obligations. 

 

• PROFILING – We will always ensure that household details are checked and questions are asked to identify whether there are any 

vulnerability issues or support needs.  

 

• We will be CLEAR AND CONCISE – Always ensure notes within QL are clear and concise so that any other staff member can 

understand them and note up clearly why a letter has been sent or contact attempted 

 

 

P
age 10



5        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 

Pre-Termination Stage 

 
Neighbourhood 
Administrator/ 
Customer service 
advisor 

 
On receipt of notice, add provisional termination of tenancy on QL 
 
Update forwarding address by copying forwarding address code in tenancy maintenance – always refer to the latest 
QL guide available on Documotive. NOK details also need to be added into the relevant sections. 
 
Discussion on rent liability until the end of the tenancy and clear notes to be added to rent account. (please refer to 
the Termination Guide) 

Neighbourhood 
Officer/ Supported 
Housing Officer/ 
Scheme Coordinator/ 
Independent Living 
Officer 

 
The Neighbourhood Officer or other relevant staff member will carry out pre-tenancy termination visit(s) 
 
During the visit the Neighbourhood Officer will advise the outgoing tenant: 

• Rent due up to end of tenancy to achieve a clear balance 

• Forwarding address needed & any other contact details such as telephone/email 

• If in receipt of Housing Benefit, advise HB will stop when they move out; must apply for overlap if needed 
 

NO to mention both rent outstanding and forwarding address at all contacts with the outgoing tenant until both 
resolved.  Forwarding address input onto QL. 

 
Tenancy 
Sustainability 
Advisor 

 
If a TSA is involved with a tenancy at the pre-termination stage, they will assist the tenant to ensure any arrears are 
cleared by the end of the tenancy or arrangements in place for payment including maximising income and applying 
for Housing Benefit overlap if applicable. 

 
Income Officer 
 
 
 

 
IO makes contact in pre-termination stage to ensure final balance cleared.  If court order in place, IO to discuss 
requirements of the court order following tenancy termination (i.e. money judgement). 
Advise re HB overlap & UC housing element end date dependent on when the termination falls within the 
assessment period. 

 
Neighbourhood 
Administrator/ 
Supported Housing 
Administrator 

 
Once keys received, terminate tenancy on QL.  Ensure forwarding address is copied into correspondence address. 
 
If tenant has passed away, ensure ‘deceased’ added into vacation reasons and NOK details added into 
correspondence address 
 

P
age 11



6        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Any Contact (ALL STAFF) 
 
We will ascertain the following information and update on QL.  
 

• Contact Details 

• Current/ forwarding address 
 
Gathering this information may unearth circumstances which we are unaware of, e.g. debt problems and budgeting difficulties.  If you pick 
up on any circumstances which we can provide further help for you must make referrals or signpost as appropriate. Note it may be 
necessary to secure consent of the individual prior to referral. 
  
Referrals can be made at any stage during the arrears recovery process to the following organisations, or there may be local organisations 

that you have links to: You must ensure that you record the referral information on QL 

• Our in-house Welfare Benefits Service/ Sustainable Tenancy Service 

• Step Change for Debt problems 

• Local Credit Union 

• Illegal Money Lending Team 

• Citizens Advice Bureau/Advice for all/Age Concern etc 

Supported Housing – Care will be taken in dealing with former tenancy arrears in relation to supported housing if there are issues around 

capacity or a named advocate.  Efforts will be made to resolve these cases without use of the automated process and standard letters. 

 Linked policy, procedure and process documents :    

THG Cash handling Procedure       THG write-off Policy and Process     
THG Allocations & Lettings Policy and Procedure   THG write-on Policy and Process 
THG Refund Policy and Procedure     Toolbox guidance for MCOL, Attachment of Earnings,  
 THG Income Policy         dealing with bankruptcy, IVAs and DROs 
THG Income Collection Process 
THG Complaints Policy and Procedure 
THG Money laundering Policy 

THG Safeguarding Policies  

THG Data Protection Policy 

• Income/Expenditure Details 

• Disability/vulnerability issues 
 

P
age 12



7        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                   
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FTA00 – No Action 

This action is automated and is the trigger to send a case up the correct 

recovery ladder.  An Action has to be present to allow an Activity to be 

created.  If a newly terminated tenancy does not have this action code it will 

not pull up on any arrears report 

FTA01 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 1 OR FTAINV Invoice 

An automated letter and email are sent on expiry of FTAPC1 if no payment has 

been made.  A rent statement will usually be enclosed with the letter. 

 

FTANFA  

This code will be generated if no forwarding 

address is held – add to FTATRA code for external 

tracing. 

Case enters into the automated process 

Check account(s) finalised 

• Final payment(s) posted 

• Final rent debit in line with tenancy end date (no adjustment pending) 

• Any HB outstanding or overpayments to pay back 

• Any other accounts relating to the same tenant – in debit or credit 

Death of tenant 

• NOK letters are not automated 

• Send FTA01B to NOK 

• Follow with FA02B, FTA03B if needed 

• Add write-off code if uncollectable (see 

appendix for codes) 

Internal trace – SIO/ SIA to check: 

• QL : all fields including CRM, tenancy 
maintenance, NOK details 

• Documotive – check original application form 
for previous addresses, family, workplace, 
friends, ex-partner etc 

• Input c/o address in correspondence address 
where possible and add FTA01 code 

• Check in applications for any other contact 
details 

 

Note:  Officer discretion whether to use the FTA01,02,03 

letter sequence or the more strongly worded, quicker 

escalating FTAINV invoice sequence 

FTAPC1 or FTPCIN - Personal Contact  
This is the first formal stage of the FTA recovery process and if it does not result in a 

payment, agreement or a discussion which causes us to put an account on hold, it initiates 
the automated letter/ email sequence. 

• Attempt personal contact with outgoing customer where possible and 
discuss outstanding debt – use all contact details held to attempt 
engagement 

• Always check customer’s circumstances and ensure help offered/ signposted 
if experiencing difficulties 

• Always try to secure full payment of the debt if appropriate to do so 

• Negotiate payment plan where required in line with guidance 

• If applicable, extend action expiry until after agreed payment date OR place 
account on hold according to circumstances 

P
age 13



8        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
              
 
 
 
    

FTA02 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 2 OR FTINV2 invoice 

reminder 

The second stage of the former tenancy arrears process and the first 

automated letter, this letter is auto-generated approximately 4 weeks 

after the FTA01 letter if no payment has been received. 

FTA03 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 3 OR FTINV3 final 

demand 

The third stage of the arrears process and the second automated 

letter, this letter is auto-generated if there have been no payments 

since the FTA02. 

 
 
 FTA03A – Refer to Debt Collection Agency 
 

The fourth stage of the arrears process and the third automated 
action code 

Q Drive 

Automated letters 

generate into Q drive 

Specialist Income 

Officers/ Assistant 

check Q drive 

regularly, print and 

send letters on 

headed ‘Income’ 

paper 

Each auto-generated 

action code also 

generates a text 

message and email.  

If desired, the text 

and email can still be 

sent to NFA cases 

and the letter deleted 

from Q drive – notes 

should be added to 

the account. 

Note:  The Specialist Income Team may use automated outbound calling 

for cases at any of the above action stages and FTA05 below to augment 

and compliment the letters, texts and emails sent. 

FTATRA – External Tracing 
 

Consider adding cases for external tracing before sending to debt recovery 
(Moorcroft) to check for up to date contact details & addresses. When cases 
are returned from tracing they will be uploaded under the code FTARTR 

Debt Relief Orders (DRO) 

If a customer has a DRO or IVA for the debt 

move case to action code FTADRO or 

FTAIVA and the expiry date will be when the 

order ends. Following this date the debt will 

then need to be added to the relevant 

uncollectable write off code. Any amount not 

included in the DRO can be recovered and 

also a joint tenant not named on the DRO can 

be chased to pay the debt 

A settlement agreement may be made at 

any point in the process at the SIO/SIM’s 

discretion, in line with the guidance 

attached as appendix C 

P
age 14



9        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                  
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recalls 

If a former tenant makes contact directly with THA to arrange payment after the case 

has been sent to debt collection, the case can be recalled from the debt collection 

agency but only if the tenant pays the debt in full. 

SIM or SIO sends an email to Moorcroft with the tenancy reference number, name and 

address and requests that the case is returned 

FTA04 – referred to debt collection agency 
 
This code indicates a case has been sent for debt collection to an external agency 
 
 

Report run for FTA03A code by Specialist Income Officer/ Assistant 

• Cases under £50 removed – write off code added  

• Cases where tenant engaging/ paying – removed from report – FTA00 code added  

• Sent to Moorcroft debt collection agency at agreed intervals 

Debts should only be recalled 

from debt collection if they are to 

be paid in full. 

If a customer wants to pay by 

arrangement, refer them back to 

the debt collection agency. 

Returned from Debt Collection – uncollectable 

Moorcroft send a monthly report of cases they have been unable to collect  

From April 2016 THA have used 

Moorcroft for debt collection. We still have 

a number of cases with legacy 

companies– Rossendale, Empress, 

Medina 

From April 2020 due to the covid-

19 pandemic, THA have placed 

debt collection on hold with 

Moorcroft and the relevant 

companies, with no new referrals 

and no action on cases held by 

the DCAs until further notice. 

P
age 15



10        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 

 
FTA08A 

 
FTA08B 

 
FTA08C 

 
FTA08D 

 
WRTDRO 

• Under £5000 

• Uncollectable (no 
possibility that 
tenant will apply for 
re-housing in future 
eg deceased/ gone 
into nursing home) 

• Over £5000 

• Uncollectable (no 
possibility that tenant 
will apply for re-
housing in future eg 
deceased/ gone into 
nursing home) 

• Under £5000 

• Collectable (may 
be collectable in 
future as tenant 
may apply for re-
housing in future) 

• Over £5000 

• Collectable (may be 
collectable in future 
as tenant may apply 
for re-housing in 
future) 

 

• Write off of 
amount subject 
to a Debt Relief 
Order  (this code 
can be used at 
any point in the 
process) 

FTA05 Returned from Debt Collection 

 
This code is added following receipt of the Moorcroft report on returned cases which the 

debt collection agency has been unable to collect. 
– these can then be added to the relevant write off code or FTATRA if further tracing 

would be beneficial. 
 

Refer to Write-off 

Code added to FTA account according to the below Note 

The following codes for write-off 

approval are no longer in use: 

FTA09, FTA10, FTA11 

Suggested good practise 

Toolbox for cases with a forwarding address 

but not paying satisfactorily and not with debt 

collection agency 

• No money judgement – apply via 

MCOL – see MCOL process map 

• Money judgement in place – working – 

attachment of earnings 

• Match funding/ settlements 

P
age 16



11        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
                
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Write-off approval  
Specialist Income Manager produces quarterly in line with Write Off Procedure 

• Under £5000 – report to Head of Income 

• Over £5000 – report to Operations Committee 

Write-offs carried out in QL 

Specialist Income Manager produces report for Group ICT Systems Development Manager 

(Paul Byrom) to upload changes to accounts 

FTA12 or FTA12A – New address details received – written off debt 

Where we receive new address details for a former tenant whose debt has already written off 

(eg if they apply for re-housing), we will write to them to request payment of the debt using the 

FTA12 letter (applicant) or FTA12A (not applying for re-housing). 

 

Suggested good practise 

The email address and 

telephone number should 

also be updated if possible 

so that every method of 

contact can be used to 

reach the former tenant. 

FTA13 – Letter 2 - written off debt 

Where the debt has already been written off, we cannot use the FTA01, 02, 03 sequence of 

letters as the account balance must be manually entered onto the letter.  This letter is a 

manual equivalent of the letter 2 for use post-write off. 

 

FTA14 – Letter 3 - written off debt 

Where the debt has already been written off, we cannot use the FTA01, 02, 03 sequence of 

letters as the account balance must be manually entered onto the letter.  This letter is a 

manual equivalent of the letter 3 for use post-write off. 

P
age 17



12        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Written off debts – payments received 
 

In some cases we will receive payments against a debt that has previously been written off, which 
will be posted to the rent account and written back on as agreed. 

 
NB the whole debt is not written back on, only the amount paid off against it. 

FTA03A – Refer to Debt Collection Agency 
 

Any cases which have reached the expiry date of the FTA14 letter with 
no adequate payment arrangement in place can have the FTA03A 
action code added so they will be sent to debt collection 

P
age 18



13        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

Appendix 1: FORMER TENANCY ARREARS 

Customer Contact Centre Processes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Tenant calls to terminate tenancy 

Former tenant calls for 
refund of credit balance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Relative phones 
to report death 
of tenant (where 
no surviving joint 
tenant) 
 

Former tenant calls regarding 
letter, text or email received from 
THA regarding a debt for a former 
tenancy 

Former tenant calls regarding letter 
received from debt collection 
agency (usually Moorcroft) 

Former tenant calls to query 
balance or request statement 

Ask for forwarding 
address and enter 
in tenancy details 

Do they 
wish to 
clear the 
debt in 
full? 

If unable to pay in full/ wish to make agreement, 
refer back to the debt collection agency. 
Moorcroft customer services: 0161 477 2970 

Confirm balance, produce 
statement, ask if they 
wish to make a payment 

Take payment.  If large amount, please let SI 

Team know! 

If unable to pay in full feel free to agree an 

arrangement and detail dates and amounts in 

your activity notes  

yes 

no 

Take payment.  In all cases, please let Specialist 

Income Team know! 

Do they 
wish to 
clear the 
debt in 
full? 

yes 

no 

Former Tenant Rent Account 

Contacts, in general: 

*Add activity in the rent 

account screen to record 

conversation–TELEIN 

*If action needed by SI team, 

please task to team tray 

*Identify by Tenancy 

Sequence number if possible 

*If Allpay card needed, please 

order 

*If customer wishes to set up 

Direct Debit or Standing 

Order, send relevant form 

*Ask former tenant for 

current address and contact 

details and update on the 

system 

*Please don’t add actions in 

the arrears screen 

In all cases, if in doubt, 

transfer to the Specialist 

Income team! 

We have a team task tray on 

QL and our team inbox is 

zzSMspecialistincometeam 

(internally) or 

specialistincometeam@toget

herhousing.co.uk 

01924-83-1014/1705/1004 

Advise customer of 
account balance which 
must be cleared before 
the tenancy ends 

Take payment 
if possible 

Did they pay by Direct 
Debit and if so, are their 
bank details still the same 

yes 

no 

Task to Specialist Income Team 
to process refund 

Advise customer they will need to 
write to us requesting the credit, 
with bank details and signature 

After offering condolences, advise that the rent will 
continue to be debited until the Sunday after keys are 
handed in (we don’t hold them to the 4 weeks’ 
notice).  If the tenant was in receipt of Housing 
Benefit, advise that this benefit stops the Sunday after 
the date of death. 

Follow usual process for terminating 
tenancy/ death of tenant as agreed 
with neighbourhoods and always 
record the date of death in notes 

Take payment or agree proposed arrangement – add 
details in an activity on the rents screen (no 
agreement too small!  SI Team will pick up any issues) Note – we still collect debts 

that have been written off so 

please check transactions and 

quote debt prior to write-off. 

P
age 19

mailto:specialistincometeam@togetherhousing.co.uk
mailto:specialistincometeam@togetherhousing.co.uk


14        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

FTA Letter Process   

FTA00 No Action 

FTANFA Account with no forwarding address  

FTAPC1 Personal contact stage – telephone, email or text 

FTA01 Initial Arrears Letter (Automated and sent with rent 

statement), email sent at same time 

FTA02 2nd follow up letter (Automated), email sent at same 

time 

FTA03 3rd follow up letter (Automated), email sent at same 

time 

FTA03A Ready to be referred to debt collection  

FTA04 With debt collection 

FTA05 Returned from debt collection. 

FTA Invoice Process   

FTPCIN Personal contact stage – telephone, email or text 

FTAINV Initial Invoice letter (manual) 

FTINV2 2nd follow up letter (manual) 

FTINV3 3rd follow up letter (manual) 

Then follow from FT03A 

above.  

 

NOK Letters (E.g. deceased)  

FTA01B Deceased tenant – NOK letter send with statement 

P
age 20



15        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

FTA02B As above, follow up letter.  

Write off Codes   

FTA08A Not collectable under £5000  

FTA08B Not collectable over £5000  

FTA08C Collectable under £5000 

FTA08D Collectable over £5000 

FTA08E Credit write off  

Write off – New contact 

details  

 

FTA12 Contact post-write off (eg, through lettings) 

FTA12A Contact post write off  (not through lettings) 

FTA13 2nd follow up letter 

FTA14 3rd follow up letter  

FTA Tracing 
 

FTATRA Account to be sent for tracing 

FTARTR Account returned from tracing 

Other Codes  

FTADRO FTA accounts subject to DRO  

FTAIVA FTA accounts subject to an IVA 

MCOL Process  

P
age 21



16        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MCOREF Referral for MCOL Process 

MCOPRE Pre-MCOL letter – 10 days waiting 

MCOL01 Letter of intent to claim  

MCOL14 (activity) 14 day reminder to respond to MCOL01 

MCOLAP (activity) Letter to advise we are registering at court 

MCOREG SIM has registered on MCOL 

MCOLAG Agreement made – to monitor payments 

MCOL03 CCJ Received 

MCOJUD Judgement applied for  

FTA Campaign Manager All Activity Codes 

CAMSUC FTA campaign successful call 

CAMPNO FTA Campaign no answer 

CAMPAY FTA campaign payment/arrangement 

CAMCLE FTA Campaign balance cleared 

  

P
age 22



17        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

Debt Settlement guidance 

 

This can be used on accounts where the full settlement agreement can be made within 5 working days of the settlement being offered. 

 

To be used on debts over £100 (anything over £500 to be agreed by SIM) 

 

• Start negotiation at a reduction of 5% or 10% (total debt x 0.05 = 5% or total debt x 0.1 =10% - this is the amount you can deduct from the total). 
 

•  We will not go lower than 25% off the total debt. 
 

• Bear in mind the area they live in and the likelihood they may want re-housing in future – if Blackburn, Darwen or Calderdale where we own most of 
the social housing for example, the likelihood of them paying in full in future to secure re-housing is higher than in other areas – so you may not need 
to go as low on these ones.  Ask them about their current accommodation – this might give you an insight into whether they want to be re-housed.  

 

• Set a time limit for the amount to be cleared – start with immediate payment over the phone, if need be allow up to five working days.  
 

• Use FINSET activity – to show clearly that a final settlement has been agreed on the debt and detail exactly what will be paid and when. Follow up in 
writing to customer outlining the settlement and terms of the agreement.  
 

• Diarise to check payment made as agreed (unless you take it during the call). 
 

• Add to the correct FTA write off code as uncollectable: FTA08A for any debts under £5000 and FTA08B for any debts over £5000 
 

P
age 23



18        Version 1.1 October 2018  

 

 

How to order an Allpay card: 

1) Search address and go to CRM 

2) Check correct current address is in Correspondence Address 

3) Go to Rents screen 

4) Click Tenancy Maintenance button on right hand side 

5) Go to Add. Details tab (see below) 

 

6) Select drop down menu marker “AllPay Card Required” bottom right and change to “1 – Card Ordered” 

7) SAVE 

It’s quicker than tasking or emailing us! 

P
age 24



 1 

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF SERVICE REFORM 
 

 
 

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES  

 
ON 24 MARCH 2022 

 
TITLE: Sundry Debtor Write Off –Quarter 4 2021/22

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: That the lead member approves the write off of sundry debts 

to the value of £62,174.33 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  The council raises over £200m of income through the 

sundry debt system each financial year. Whilst every attempt is made to recover the 
debt there will inevitably be circumstances whereby a small element of this debt will 

become irrecoverable.  The council has budget provision to cover the cost of debts 
written off.  
 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: SAP AR records; detailed list of invoices to be 
written off (not available to the public) 

 
 
KEY DECISION: YES / NO 

 
 
DETAILS: 

 
1. It is proposed to write off a number of sundry debtor accounts that are 

considered to be irrecoverable. The recovery process includes a range of 
actions which are applied to individual cases as appropriate and can include 
some or all of the following. 

 

 Reminder notice 18 days after the due date 

 Final notice 32 days after the due date 

 Suspension of service if appropriate 

 Debt recovery passed on to external debt recovery agency 

 High level debt referred to the litigation team for county court action 

 Use of bailiffs for commercial rent arrears 
 

2. The council is always sensitive to the circumstances of individuals, especially 

older and vulnerable people. Where appropriate, we try to make arrangements 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3b



 2 

with the customer to create a payment schedule that is affordable to them, 
helps ensure that they can pay off their debt to the council and avoids the costs 
of formal recovery action. 

 
3. The value of the debts proposed for write-off is £62,174.33. The total value of 

sundry debtor invoices raised during this financial year, as at 16/03/22, is 
£277,923,477. This write-off therefore represents 0.023% of the debt. 

 

4. The reasons for the proposed write-off are analysed in the table below. 
 

Reason £ No. 

01 Absconders 1,034.74 5 

02 Bankrupt 0.00 0 
03 Deceased 37,256.69 47 
04 Liquidation 2,851.56 12 

05 In receivership 0.00 0 
06 Exceptional circumstances 1,013.68 7 

07 Insufficient evidence 0.00 0 
08 Irrecoverable 4,397.04 14 
09 Statute-barred 3,733.70 2 

10 Uneconomical 1,258.48 31 
11 Irrecoverable after legal action 10,268.44 4 

12 No response from department 0.00 0 
  62,174.33 122 
    

 

5. There have been exhaustive attempts to collect these sundry debts and they 
are now found to be irrecoverable for a variety of reasons including, but not 

limited to liquidation, absconders, companies that have ceased trading, 
bankruptcy, customers who are deceased, uneconomical to collect and 
irrecoverable after court action. 

 
6. The write-off for sundry debts will be charged to the provision for bad debts that 

currently stands at £6.8m (prior to this write-off).  
 
7. The write-off of debts to the value of £62,174.33 is recommended.  A detailed 

list of all the invoices proposed for write-off is available to the Lead Member for 
Finance and Support Services. 

 

 
 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Budget strategy, internal sundry debt write-off policy 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Individual circumstances 
are taken into account in determining an appropriate recovery path and in reviewing 

debt before bringing forward recommendations for write-off.  
 

 
 

Page 26



 3 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low 
 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Legal advice has been obtained on each of the individual 

cases where the assessment has resulted in court action. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Chris Hesketh, head of financial 
management 

 
There is adequate cover for the sundry debt write-offs proposed in this report in the 
council’s provision for bad debt. Setting a provision that is prudent, but not excessive, 

is a component of the council’s financial strategy. The provision is reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure that it is set at an appropriate level. 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 

 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 
  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 
 

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  Directorates are consulted on specific 

write-offs where appropriate.  

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Chris Hesketh, head of financial management 
TEL NO: 0161 778 0214 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:   

 
 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Former Tenants Arrears Write Off.
	Appendix 1 FTA Former Tenancy Arrears Recovery process V1

	3b Sundry Debt Write Off - Quarter 4 2021/22.

